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Rea sassociates

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council
City of Berea

Cuyahoga County, Ohio

11 Berea Commons

Berea, OH 44017

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of
the City of Berea, Cuyahoga County, Ohio (the City) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020,
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated June 21, 2021, in which we noted the City restated
beginning net position to account for the correction of reporting errors within capital assets.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with
governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses
may exist that have not been identified.

CPAs and business consultants
www.reacpa.com
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Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Page 2

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that is required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Won Vebatrcleter) e .

Rea & Associates, Inc.
Medina, Ohio
June 21, 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR
FEDERAL PROGRAM; REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE;
AND REPORT ON THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF
FEDERAL AWARDS REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council
City of Berea

Cuyahoga County, Ohio

11 Berea Commons

Berea, OH 44017

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited the City of Berea’s, Cuyahoga County, Ohio (the “City”) compliance with the types of
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and
material effect on each of the City’s major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2020. The
City’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management’s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with the federal statues, regulations, and the terms and
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City's major federal programs
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements
for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal
program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City's compliance
with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City's compliance.

CPAs and business consultants
Www.reacpa.com
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Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the
year ended December 31, 2020.

Report on Internal Control over Compliance

Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our
audit of compliance, we considered the City's internal control over compliance with the types of
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the
auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City's internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.



City of Berea
Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program;
Report on Internal Control over Compliance; and Report on the
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by Uniform Guidance
Page 3 of 3

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
City’s basic financial statements. We issued our report thereon dated June 21, 2021, which contained
unmodified opinions on those financial statements, in which we noted in our report that the City restated
beginning net position to account for the correction of reporting errors within capital assets. Our audit was
conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the
basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for
purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements.
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of
federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

Won Viotrecetesy e .

Rea & Associates, Inc.
Medina, Ohio
June 21, 2021




CITY OF BEREA
CUYAHOGA COUNTY, OHIO
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020

FEDERAL GRANTOR Pass Through Federal
Pass Through Grantor Entity CFDA
Program Title Number Number Disbursements Subrecipients

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING
AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT

Passed Through Cuyahoga County

Community Development Block Grant - Entitlement Grants N/A 14.228 $ 150,000 $

Total United States Department of Housing and Urban Development 150,000

UNITED STATES DEPARTMMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
Passed Through the State of Ohio Grants Parternership

COVID-19 CARES Provider Relief - Adult Day Service Senior Center N/A 93.498 25,000

Total United States Department of Health and Human Services 25,000

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY

Passed Through State of Ohio (via HB 481 & HB 614)
Passed Through Cuyahoga County

COVID-19 CARES Act - Coronavirus Relief Local Government N/A 21.019 1,431,961
Total United States Department of Treasury 1,431,961
TOTAL FEDERAL AWARDS EXPENDITURES $ 1,606,961 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Schedule



CITY OF BEREA
CUYAHOGA COUNTY, OHIO

NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020

NOTE A - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the “Schedule”) includes the federal
award activity of the City of Berea (City) under programs of the federal government for the year ended
December 31, 2020. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule
presents only a selected portion of the operations of the City, it is not intended to and does not present the
financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the City.

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the cash basis of accounting. Such expenditures

are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of
expenditures may or may not be allowable or may be limited as to reimbursement.

NOTE C - INDIRECT COST RATE

The City elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform
Guidance.

NOTE D - MATCHING REQUIREMENTS

Certain federal programs require that the City contribute non-federal funds (matching funds) to support
the federally-funded programs. The City has met its matching requirements. The Schedule does not
include the expenditure of non-federal matching funds.



CITY OF BEREA
CUYAHOGA COUNTY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

2 CFR §200.515
DECEMBER 31, 2020

1. SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS

d) @) @) Type of Financial Statement Unmodified
Opinion
(d) (2) (iD) Were there any material control weakness No
conditions reported at the financial statement
level (GAGAS)?
(d) (2) (i) Were there any significant None reported
deficiencies reported at the
financial statement level (GAGAS)?
(d) (2) (iii) Was there any reported material non- No
compliance at the financial statement
level (GAGAS)?
(d) (2) (iv) Were there any material internal control No
weakness conditions reported for major
federal programs?
d) (2) (iv) Were there any significant deficiencies in internal control None reported
reported for major federal programs?
d) (1) (v) Type of Major Programs’ Unmodified
Compliance Opinion
(d) (2) (vi) Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in | No
accordance with 2 CFR 200.516 (a)?
(d) (2) (vii) Major Programs (list):
COVID-19 CARES Act — Coronavirus Relief Local CFDA #21.019
Government
(d) (1) (viii) Dollar Threshold: Type A/B Type A: >$750,000
Programs Type B: > all others
(d) (2) (ix) Low Risk Auditee under 2 CFR 200.520 No
2. FINDINGS RELATED TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REQUIRED TO BE REPORTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GAGAS
NONE
3. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS FOR FEDERAL AWARDS
NONE
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= CITY OF BEREA

“TheGrindstoneCity”

Cyril M. Kleem 11 Berea Commons
Mayor Berea, Ohio 44017

Andrea Morris Phone: 440-826-5889

Director of Finance Fax. 440-234-5628

Website www.cityofberea.org
Email amorris@cityofberea.org

June 21, 2021

Honorable Mayor Cyril M. Kleem,
Members of City Council, and
Citizens of Berea, Ohio

I am pleased to submit the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the City of Berea,
Ohio for the year ended December 31, 2020.

The Ohio Revised Code requires that every general-purpose local government publish within six
months of the close of each fiscal year a complete set of audited financial statements. This report
is published to fulfill that requirement for 2020.

Management assumes full responsibility for both the completeness and reliability of the
information contained in this report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal control
that it has established for this purpose. Because the cost of internal control should not exceed
anticipated benefits, the objective is to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the
financial statements are free of any material misstatements.

Rea and Associates, Inc. has issued an unmodified (“clean”) opinion on the City of Berea’s
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. The independent auditor’s report is
located at the front of the financial section of this report.

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s
report and provides a narrative introduction, overview and analysis of the basic financial
statements. The MD&A complements this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction
with it.



History of Berea

Berea earned its name by the flip of a coin on September 27, 1836. Berea grew from an agricultural
area to a quarry town in 1840. John Baldwin is credited with the discovery of a lathe to cut slabs
of stone into grindstone, thus making “Berea sandstone” world famous. The grindstones were
used to sharpen tools for farm, home and industry. The large sandstone from Berea quarries were
used in prestigious buildings in the United States and abroad. In the 1940's, grindstones were
replaced with carbon grinding wheels, and cement was being used more often in construction. The
City holds a “Grindstone Festival” every year to honor its past. (Berea Historical Society and
“Men of Grit and Greatness” by W. F. Holzworth)

General Information

Situated in the southwest portion of Cuyahoga County, Berea is ten miles from downtown
Cleveland. The City’s population from the 2020 Federal Census was 18,788 residents. Total land
area is approximately 6.5 square miles.

The City’s immediate access to three State and U.S. highways and Interstate highways: I-71, I-80
and [-480 makes Berea an attractive location for residents and commercial enterprise. The City is
served by Norfolk-Southern and CSX railroads and is adjacent to areas served by Amtrak railroad.
Cleveland Hopkins International Airport, located within three miles of the City, and Burke
Lakefront Airport, located within 15 miles of the City, add to the desirability of the area.

Baldwin Wallace University (formerly Baldwin Wallace College) founded in 1845, a private
liberal arts college well known for its Conservatory of Music, is located in the City. Within
commuting distance of the City are several public and private two-year and four-year colleges and
universities, including Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland State University, Cuyahoga
Community College, John Carroll University, Kent State University, Lorain County Community
College, Notre Dame College, Ursuline College, Oberlin College and the University of Akron.

The City utilizes over 80 acres of City-owned park land to house a variety of recreational facilities
including an outdoor municipal pool, playgrounds, and softball and football fields. The Coe Lake
recreation area features paddle boats, nature trails and an outdoor science education center along
with a gazebo, pavilion and beach area. The City also boasts approximately 370 acres of the
Cleveland Metroparks System. The Metroparks’ Rocky River Reservation contains the Wallace
and Baldwin Lakes for swimming, boating, ice skating, and fishing along with all-purpose trails
for biking, jogging, hiking and physical fitness facilities. Other features of the Reservation include
the Berea Falls Scenic Overlook, Music Mound, hiking trails, horseback riding trails, and the
Wallace Lake, Baldwin Lake, and South Baldwin picnic areas.
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Form of Government

The City of Berea operates under and is governed by the laws of the State of Ohio and its own
Charter which was first adopted by the electorate in 1960. The Charter has been and may be
amended by the voters from time to time. A nine-member Charter Review Committee reviews the
Charter every five years, and is currently meeting in 2021. The charter provides for a mayor-
council form of government. Legislative authority is vested in a seven-member council. The
Council is composed of two members elected at-large and five members who are elected by wards,
for two-year terms. The presiding officer is the President of Council, who is elected at-large by the
electors for a two-year term. All members of Council serve in a part-time capacity.

The City’s chief executive and administrative officer is the Mayor who is elected to a four-year
term and serves in a full-time capacity. The Mayor may also veto legislation passed by Council.
A two-thirds vote of all members of Council will override a veto.

The Berea Municipal Court provides judicial services for the City of Berea. The jurisdiction of
the Court, as established by the Ohio Revised Code, encompasses the contiguous communities of
Berea, Brook Park, Middleburg Heights, Strongsville, Olmsted Falls, Olmsted Township, parts of
the Ohio Turnpike and Cleveland Metroparks.

Established by charter, the municipal government consists of six departments (Police, Fire,
Service, Recreation, Law and Finance). In addition, the Building, Community Development,
Engineering, and Housing Services departments were established by the Mayor. The Police and
Fire departments are headed by the Director of Public Safety. Each department has a director, who
reports directly to the Mayor. All directors work closely with the Mayor in providing the citizens
of Berea with the highest quality of services while maintaining efficiency and cost effectiveness.

The Police Department enforces local, state, and federal laws in addition to protecting citizens
and their property. The department takes a community oriented policing approach that has been
met with great success. Numerous programs are offered to citizens and students. The department,
under the direction of the Director of Public Safety and headed by the Chief of Police, consists of
three bureaus. The Patrol Division oversees the staff of patrol officers. The Services Operational
Division oversees Drug Abuse Resistance Education, Animal Control, Parking Control, Auxiliary,
School Guards, and firearms training. The Detective Bureau oversees the City’s investigative
services. The Police Department is a member of the Southwest Council of Governments’
Southwest Enforcement Bureau (SEB), a regional SWAT team. The SEB team is made up of 18
member communities who provide money and manpower for equipment and operations for the
tactical division, bomb technicians, hostage negotiations, snipers and medics. In 2015, the City
began the Community Engagement Unit (CEU). The CEU is designed to foster relationships
between police and community organizations. The CEU works with at-risk youth, senior citizens,
business owners and the students, faculty and staff of Baldwin Wallace University plus various
civic and religious groups in the community. The department developed a program known as Safe
Passages. At least eleven other cities have adopted their program and the Berea Police were
recognized by the Attorney General of Ohio for the innovative program. Goals include assisting
addicts in getting treatment. Safe Passages is founded on the premise that any addict may
voluntarily come to the police station for assistance without fear of arrest.
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The Fire Department provides fire suppression, emergency medical services, Hazmat response,
extrication, and search and rescue, placing a strong emphasis on fire prevention, community
involvement and education. The Director of Public Safety oversees the Chief of Fire who leads
the department. The department has 2 fully equipped advanced-life-support rescue squads, two
pumpers and a 107-foot Aerial Ladder Tower. The Fire Department is a member of the Southwest
Council of Governments’ Southwest Emergency Response Team (SERT). The SERT team is
made up of 19 member communities, the Cleveland Metroparks, and the Northeast Ohio Regional
Sewer District to provide money and manpower for equipment and operations for a hazardous
response team, specialized water and land based rescue teams, a fire investigation unit and a
tactical EMS team.

The Service Department is comprised of several divisions administered by a director. The City
Service Division is responsible for the maintenance of all City vehicles, buildings, traffic lights
and signs, public grounds, tree trimming, snow and leaf removal. The Storm Sewers and Drains
Division maintain proper drainage control. The Street Paving and Repair Division handle the non-
contractual maintenance of City streets. The Street Striping Division is responsible for the painting
of street lines and markings. The Forestry Division oversees the forestry services and the annual
tree planting. The City outsources its rubbish and recycling services. The City has its own water
plant, which is also handled by the Service Department. The water plant has a supply division and
a distribution division, which ensures the water supply is safe and the water lines are properly
maintained. The Sewer division oversees the collection of sewage and the maintenance of the
City’s sewer lines. The Service Department works with the Finance Department in handling the
billing and collection for the City’s water department and the Northeast Ohio Regional Sewer
District.

The Recreation Department provides numerous recreational activities and programs throughout
the year. The City has a recreation center, which includes an indoor pool, sauna, steam room,
racquetball courts, running/walking track, exercise equipment, weight room, basketball courts, and
various multi-purpose rooms. The recreation center offers many classes and programs to residents
and non-residents. The department also oversees the outdoor pool and paddleboats at the City’s
Coe Lake. Coe Lake also includes several fishing areas, gazebo, pavilion, amphitheater seating,
and stage area. The Recreation Department also supervises several baseball/softball fields and
maintains several playgrounds throughout the City. The Recreation Department’s Youth Sports
Commission helps strengthen the community bonds through youth sports programs and activities
that embrace and help develop future Berea-Midpark Titans’ players.

The Law Department advises the Mayor, Council, and all departments on legal matters
concerning the City. The department prepares all contracts, legislation, and legal documents. This
department’s prosecutors prosecute City of Berea traffic and criminal cases in the Berea Municipal
Court.
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The Finance Department handles several functions administered by a director. The Finance
Department is responsible for the accurate recording of all receipts and disbursements. The
department issues bi-weekly payroll and maintains the capital asset system. The department
compiles the annual appropriations, the tax budget, the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report,
and assists the Mayor in all financial decisions. The City’s computer operations are also managed
through the Finance Department. This includes the maintenance of all City computer and
electronic equipment. This department also handles all purchasing needed to maintain operations
for all departments. In addition to overseeing these duties, the Director of Finance is also the
City’s Tax Administrator and utilizes the Regional Income Tax Agency to oversee the collection
and distribution of the City’s income tax.

The Building Department is responsible for interpreting and enforcing all building codes in the
City and is administered by the Director of Public Service. The department also issues permits
and citations, conducts site inspections, and licenses all contractors. This department is
responsible for the implementation of plans and programs that promote the comprehensive and
orderly development of the City.

The Community Development, Engineering, Housing and Social Services Departments
oversee the community division, the engineering division and the housing and social services
division. The Community Development Division works in conjunction with the Planning
Commission, Board of Zoning Appeals, and the Heritage Architectural Review Board as well as
works on community relations and redevelopment issues. The Engineering Division ensures that
all contractors working in Berea meet the general engineering requirements of the City. This
department controls the review and implementation of plans and programs relating to the City’s
infrastructure. The Housing and Social Services Division provides programs and assistance to
older adults and numerous residents. The division handles the various senior programs, special
events throughout the year, Berea Community Outreach Program, and various housing programs.
The Housing and Social Services Division also handles the rental of the City’s outdoor gazebo and
pavilion area. The Mayor established a Veterans Outreach office to assist veterans and their family
members in a supportive and community-oriented environment. The office assists veterans and
their families in facing a number of challenges such as post-traumatic stress, traumatic brain injury,
substance abuse, homelessness or housing concerns, disability and medical issues, unemployment,
and other services.

Economic Condition and Outlook

The City of Berea is economically strong and is a highly desirable location to live, work and play.
Our reputation as a business friendly destination is evidenced by corporate decisions to stay and
grow here and by the new investment and jobs that have and continue to be created.

Location is one of the greatest assets of the City of Berea. As a major suburb of the City of
Cleveland, its proximity to Cleveland Hopkins International Airport and easy access to three
interstate highways has contributed to the City’s continued economic growth.

X



Front Street on the City’s north end was re-engineered with an overpass over CSX and Norfolk
Southern railroad tracks resulting in a substantial reduction of traffic congestion due to the
significant increase in train traffic. The City has purchased deteriorated property in this area and
has demolished buildings in anticipation of future development in this area. This area is minutes
from the Cleveland airport and IX Center, as well as major highways. The City has developed the
North End Revitalization Plan to assist in the overall plan for economic development in this City’s
north-end gateway and main thoroughfare. This area is in transition and the City has developed a
marketing plan to assist in discussions to revitalize and develop this uptown area.

The City’s north end is also the location of the National Football League’s, Cleveland Browns
headquarters and training facility. The City and the Cleveland Browns are committed to working
together to ensure the team remains a vital part of Berea’s community. The City of Berea owns the
Cleveland Browns headquarters and training facility and worked with the Browns to amend their
lease agreement in 2019. The revised lease terms extend through 2040 with an opt-out clause after
the end of the 2038 National Football League season. In 2016, the Browns invested over $15
million in capital improvements. In addition, the City agreed to provide an income tax rebate to
the Cleveland Browns of fifty percent of their annual growth on income tax above a $2.6 million
base annually through 2038. The income tax base amount shall increase by on-half of one percent
(0.5%) each year. The rebated income tax funds can only be used towards capital improvements
to the City owned facility and cannot be used towards the general operations of the Browns. The
Browns agreed to provide various charitable commitments to the community, and also agreed to
pay the property taxes on the building.

The City’s Downtown area is home to the Baldwin Wallace College campus. In September 2018,
a new 65,000 square foot mixed use project opened. This project was a result of a partnership
between the City, the DiGeronimo Companies and Baldwin Wallace University. This project
includes 16,000 square feet of retail/commercial space below three floors of dormitory
rooms. This was the first major redevelopment project in Downtown Berea in almost 20 years.
This redevelopment project increased the daily downtown population by 131 students. The project
increased the amount of foot traffic to the downtown businesses and connected park and recreation
facilities.

In 2018, the City approved economic incentives to Voss Industries. In 2019, Voss Industries
purchased a 98,000 square foot manufacturing facility, on 14 acres, on Bagley Road. Voss
Industries moved 267 employees to this facility bringing an approximate payroll of $15.5 million.
In 2020, the City amended the Community Reinvestment Agreement with Voss Industries, LLC.
to include an additional 80 new employees with an additional annual payroll of approximately $2.8
million.

Current Year Projects: In 2020, the City received $1.4 million under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief
and Economic Security Act (CARES Act). $785,000 of the CARES Act funding was used to
support first responder’s salaries and hazard pay in the City’s Police and Fire Departments.
$646,000 of the funding was used to purchase cleaning equipment, personal protective equipment,
laptop computers, and fund a business grant program.

Due to the pandemic, only projects funded by grants and no-interest loans were completed in fiscal
year 2020.



The City completed a Citywide Bicycle Facility Improvements project in 2020. The project
installed bike racks and bike maintenance stations throughout the City. This project was funded
by a $50,000 Cuyahoga County grant.

The City completed the Wyleswood Drive Improvement Project. The City received a grant from
the Cuyahoga County Community Development Block Grant to fund the $150,000 project.

Future Outlook: The future economic outlook for the City of Berea is encouraging. Despite
Berea being an older community, most thought the City could not expand and grow. However,
the City has seen significant changes. The City anticipates continued development in both
residential and commercial areas throughout the City.

The City’s north end is currently under a transformation. The City has developed a North End
Revitalization Plan to assist in the overall plan for economic development at the City’s north end
gateway after a $24 million railroad overpass project was completed on the main thoroughfare
through the City’s north end. The City has purchased several parcels to assist in the overall
revitalization plan and developed a marketing plan to revitalize and develop this uptown area. This
area is minutes to the Cleveland Hopkins’ International Airport as well as easy access to several
interstates. The north end is the north gateway to the City and its options are endless. The City is
working with developers interested in this area and anticipate some exciting improvements in the
north end with future development and new businesses.

Kraft Street Reconstruction was started in 2018 and will be completed in 2021. This project
includes complete infrastructure improvements including a new waterline, sanitary sewer rehab,
storm sewer rehab, new roadway, and new sidewalks and aprons as needed. The total project costs
over $3 million and the City received grant and loan funding from Ohio Public Works Commission
(OPWO).

The North End Sewer Rehabilitation Project was started in 2020 with an estimated cost of $1.3
million. This project is estimated to be completed in 2021. The City received grant and loan
funding from the Northeast Ohio Sewer District and the Cuyahoga County Sewer District’s
Member Community Infrastructure Program.

The installation of Wi-Fi at Coe Lake was started in 2020 with an estimated cost of $57,000. This
project will be completed in 2021. The City received grant funding from the Cuyahoga County
Community Development Supplemental Grant Fund in the amount of $50,000.

For 2021, the City is planning the Barberry, Woodlawn, Maple and Fourth Reconstruction Project,
estimated to cost over $3 million

For 2021, the City will complete the West Street Resurfacing project, estimated to cost about

$625,000. West Street will be resurfaced including new ADA compliant ramps and sidewalks.
The City has received a $250,000 grant from the Cuyahoga County Local Resurfacing Program.
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The City implemented improved exterior maintenance. This has resulted in encouraging residents
to make exterior improvements throughout the City and has assisted the City in offsetting some of
the effects from the decline in countywide property values due to the depressed economy. The
City has also initiated several grant programs to assist seniors and low-income residents to make
the necessary improvements to their homes.

Future Projects:

The Mayor has created a Planning and Development Council made up of residents and department
heads to review various improvements to the City. The Council has reviewed gateways and
wayfinding signage improvements, an analysis of City parks and playgrounds, as well as
improvements to the historical City downtown and Coe Lake area. The Council was involved in
the various park and playground improvements as well as the gateway and Coe Lake area
improvements.

Long-Term Financial Planning

The City maintains a Fund Balance Policy. The purpose of the Fund Balance Policy is to establish
a fund balance/retained earnings policy that is tailored to the needs of the City and to ensure against
unanticipated events that would adversely affect the financial condition of the City and jeopardize
the continuation of necessary public services. This policy was created to establish long-term goals
for building and reserving the City’s General Fund Balance, to commit funds for anticipated
retirement payouts, and to establish a General Fund Rainy Day Fund for additional long-term
stability. The City’s primary goal was to begin committing funds for the retirement payouts. The
City will continue to maintain the funds needed to meet anticipated retirement payouts while also
working towards meeting its goal of a General Fund unassigned balance that exceeds 15% of
annual operating expenditures and other financing uses (transfers). The third reserve was designed
to reserve at least one month of annual operating expenditures and other financing uses (transfers)
for a Rainy Day Committed Fund Balance.

The City has committed to maintaining a positive General Fund balance and the establishment of
the reserves. The Finance Department reviews all monitory transactions on an on-going basis and
works diligently to monitor revenues and reprioritize expenditures and works with the Mayor to
maintain optimal balances for all fund balances, especially the General Fund.

The City developed a Six-Year Capital Plan. The capital plan looks at the City’s departmental
needs during this time period and the possible funding available. The plan is heavily focused on
infrastructure improvements with a minimal change in total debt outstanding. The capital plan
will be reviewed and updated periodically.
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Other Information

GFOA Certificate of Achievement Award: The Government Finance Officers Association of
the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in
Financial Reporting to the City of Berea, Ohio for its Annual Comprehensive Financial Report
(ACFR) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. The Certificate of Achievement is a
prestigious national award, recognizing conformance with the highest standards for preparation of
state and local government financial reports.

In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable
and efficiently organized annual comprehensive financial report, whose content conforms to
program standards. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and
applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. The City of Berea began
preparing the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report and began submitting the report for the
award sixteen years ago. The City has received the Certificate of Achievement for the last sixteen
consecutive years. We believe our current annual comprehensive financial report continues to
meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements and we are submitting it to the GFOA
to determine its eligibility for another certificate.

Acknowledgments: The preparation of the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report was made
possible by the dedicated service of the entire staff of the Department of Finance. I would like to
express my appreciation to all staff members who have contributed or assisted in its preparation.
Appreciation is also expressed to all City departments for their cooperation and assistance. I would
also like to acknowledge the cooperation of the team from Rea and Associates, Inc., who assisted
the finance department in the preparation of the financial report and their staff for conducting a
thorough audit of our finances.

In closing, I would like to thank the Mayor, the members of Berea City Council and the citizens
of our fine community, for without your continued support, the preparation of this report would
not have been possible.
Respectfully submitted,

dqu—u{z—i‘) //‘;"‘/M

Andrea Morris
Director of Finance
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council
City of Berea

Cuyahoga County, Ohio

11 Berea Commons

Berea, OH 44017

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Berea, Cuyahoga
County, Ohio, (the City) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table
of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

CPAs and business consultants
www.reacpa.com
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Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund,
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Berea, Cuyahoga County, Ohio, as of
December 31, 2020, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows
thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the year then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of a Matter
As described in Note 2, the City restated beginning net position to account for the correction of reporting
errors within capital assets. Our opinion is not modified with respect to these matters.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis and Pension and other Post-Employment Benefit schedules, as listed in the table of
contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of
the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City's basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund financial statements and
schedules, other supplemental schedules, and the introductory and statistical sections are presented for
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules, and other supplemental schedules
are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules are fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
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The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 21, 2021 on
our consideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose
of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering City's internal control over
financial reporting and compliance.

Won Vhoarcietosy Shc. .

Rea & Associates, Inc.
Medina, Ohio
June 21, 2021
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City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
(Unaudited)

The discussion and analysis of the City of Berea’s (the City) financial performance provides an overall
review of the City’s financial activities for the year ended December 31, 2020. The intent of this discussion
and analysis is to look at the City’s performance as a whole; readers should also review the notes to the
basic financial statements and financial statements to enhance their understanding of the City’s financial
performance.

Financial Highlights
Key financial highlights for 2020 are as follows:

o Intotal, net position decreased $2.1 million, which represents a 3 percent decrease from 2019. Net
position of governmental activities decreased $2.3 million. Net position of business-type activities
increased $0.2 million.

e Total capital assets decreased $5.3 million during 2020. Capital assets of governmental activities
decreased $4.4 million and capital assets of business-type activities decreased $0.9 million.

e Outstanding debt decreased from $35.3 million to $34.3 million.
e Short term notes payable decreased from $6.1 million to $5.9 million from 2019.
Using this Annual Financial Report

This report is designed to allow the reader to look at the financial activities of the City of Berea as a whole
and is intended to allow the reader to obtain a summary view or a more detailed view of the City’s
operations, as they prefer.

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities provide information from a summary
perspective showing the effects of the operations for the year 2020 and how they affected the operations of
the City as a whole.

Reporting the City as a Whole
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities provide information about the activities of the
whole City, presenting both an aggregate view of the City’s finances and a longer-term view of those
finances. Fund financial statements provide the next level of detail. For governmental funds, these
statements tell how services were financed in the short-term as well as what remains for future spending.
The fund financial statements also look at the City’s most significant funds with all other nonmajor funds
presented in total in one column. In the case of the City of Berea, the general fund is by far the most
significant fund. Business-type funds consist of the water and sewer revenue funds.



City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
(Unaudited)

A question typically asked about the City’s finances is "How did we do financially during 2020?" The
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities answer this question. These statements include
all assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources using the
accrual basis of accounting similar to the accounting method used by most private-sector companies. This
basis of accounting takes into account all of the current year's revenues and expenses regardless of when
cash is received or paid.

These two statements report the City’s net position and changes in net position. This change in net position
is important because it tells the reader that, for the City as a whole, the financial position of the City has
improved or diminished. The causes of this change may be the result of many factors, some financial, some
not. Non-financial factors include the City’s property tax base, current property tax laws in Ohio which
restrict revenue growth, facility conditions, and other factors.

In the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, the City is divided into two distinct kinds
of activities:

e Governmental Activities - Most of the City’s programs and services are reported here, including
general government, security of persons and property, public health, community development,
leisure time activities, public works and transportation.

o Business-Type Activities - These services are provided on a charge for goods or services basis to
recover all of the expenses of the goods or services provided. The City’s water and sewer revenue
funds are reported as business activities.

Reporting the City’s Most Significant Funds
Fund Financial Statements

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been
safeguarded for specific activities or objectives. The City uses many funds to account for financial
transactions. However, these fund financial statements focus on the City’s most significant funds. The
City’s major governmental funds are the general fund, general bond retirement fund, and general capital
improvement fund.

Governmental Funds Most of the City’s activities are reported in governmental funds, which focus on how
money flows into and out of those funds and the balances left at year-end available for spending in future
periods. These funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting, which
measures cash and all other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash. The governmental fund
statements provide a detailed short-term view of the City’s general government operations and the basic
services it provides. Governmental fund information helps you determine whether there are more or fewer
financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance future services. The relationship (or
differences) between governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement
of Activities) and governmental funds is reconciled in the financial statements.

Proprietary Funds Proprietary funds use the same basis of accounting as business-type activities; therefore,
these statements will essentially match, except for the internal service fund allocations.
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Fiduciary Funds Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside
the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the
resources of those funds are not available to support the City’s own programs. The accounting used for the
fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.

The City as a Whole

Recall that the Statement of Net Position provides the perspective of the City as a whole. Table 1 provides
a summary of the City’s net position for 2020 compared to 2019:

Table 1
Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities
Restated
2020 2019 Change 2020 2019 Change
Assets
Current and Other Assets $ 23,023,230 $ 20,996,410 $ 2,026,820 $ 3,347,662 $ 2,679,295 $ 668,367
Capital Assets 84,200,395 88,584,147 (4,383,752) 38,233,249 39,114,369 (881,120)
Total Assets 107,223,625 109,580,557 (2,356,932) 41,580,911 41,793,664 (212,753)
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension & OPEB 5,860,324 10,072,200 (4,211,876) 479,445 973,830 (494,385)
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 5,860,324 10,072,200 (4,211,876) 479,445 973,830 (494,385)
Liabilities
Current and Other Liabilities 7,105,685 8,543,159 (1,437,474) 317,506 654,649 (337,143)
Long-Term Liabilities:
Due Within One Year 9,220,439 9,384,123 (163,684) 837,850 738,721 99,129
Due in More Than One Year:

Net Pension Liability 21,895,278 27,941,746 (6,046,468) 1,834,439 2,730,088 (895,649)

Net OPEB Liability 7,283,183 6,881,016 402,167 1,224,306 1,245,511 (21,205)

Other Amounts 14,931,627 15,406,250 (474,623) 10,931,720 11,376,093 (444,373)
Total Liabilities 60,436,212 68,156,294 (7,720,082) 15,145,821 16,745,062 (1,599,241)
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property Taxes 4,130,238 4,195,659 (65,421) 463,628 470,449 (6,821)
Pension & OPEB 5,601,423 2,067,653 3,533,770 706,265 42,602 663,663
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 9,731,661 6,263,312 3,468,349 1,169,893 513,051 656,842
Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 56,541,673 59,498,197 (2,956,524) 27,706,748 28,028,357 (321,609)
Restricted 3,211,819 3,042,852 168,967 - - -
Unrestricted (16,837,416) (17,307,898) 470,482 (1,962,106) (2,518,976) 556,870
Total Net Position $ 42,916,076 _$ 45,233,151 $§ (2,317,075) _$ 25,744,642 $ 25,509,381 $ 235,261

The net pension liability (NPL) is the largest single liability reported by the City at December 31, 2020
and is reported pursuant to GASB Statement 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions—an
Amendment of GASB Statement 27. In a prior year, the City adopted GASB Statement 75, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, which significantly revised
accounting for costs and liabilities related to other postemployment benefits (OPEB). For reasons discussed
below, many end users of this financial statement will gain a clearer understanding of the City’s actual
financial condition by adding deferred inflows related to pension and OPEB, the net pension liability and
the net OPEB liability to the reported net position and subtracting deferred outflows related to pension and
OPEB.
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Governmental Accounting Standards Board standards are national and apply to all government financial
reports prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Prior accounting for
pensions (GASB 27) and postemployment benefits (GASB 45) focused on a funding approach. This
approach limited pension and OPEB costs to contributions annually required by law, which may or may
not be sufficient to fully fund each plan’s net pension liability or net OPEB liability. GASB 68 and GASB
75 take an earnings approach to pension and OPEB accounting; however, the nature of Ohio’s statewide
pension/OPEB plans and state law governing those systems requires additional explanation in order to
properly understand the information presented in these statements.

GASB 68 and GASB 75 require the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability to equal the City’s
proportionate share of each plan’s collective:

1. Present value of estimated future pension/OPEB benefits attributable to active and inactive
employees’ past service
2. Minus plan assets available to pay these benefits

GASB notes that pension and OPEB obligations, whether funded or unfunded, are part of the “employment
exchange” — that is, the employee is trading his or her labor in exchange for wages, benefits, and the promise
of a future pension and other postemployment benefits. GASB noted that the unfunded portion of this
promise is a present obligation of the government, part of a bargained-for benefit to the employee, and
should accordingly be reported by the government as a liability since they received the benefit of the
exchange. However, the City is not responsible for certain key factors affecting the balance of these
liabilities. In Ohio, the employee shares the obligation of funding pension benefits with the employer. Both
employer and employee contribution rates are capped by State statute. A change in these caps requires
action of both Houses of the General Assembly and approval of the Governor. Benefit provisions are also
determined by State statute. The Ohio revised Code permits, but does not require the retirement systems
to provide healthcare to eligible benefit recipients. The retirement systems may allocate a portion of the
employer contributions to provide for these OPEB benefits.

The employee enters the employment exchange with the knowledge that the employer’s promise is limited
not by contract but by law. The employer enters the exchange also knowing that there is a specific, legal
limit to its contribution to the retirement system. In Ohio, there is no legal means to enforce the unfunded
liability of the pension/OPEB plan as against the public employer. State law operates to mitigate/lessen
the moral obligation of the public employer to the employee, because all parties enter the employment
exchange with notice as to the law. The retirement system is responsible for the administration of the
pension and OPEB plans.

Most long-term liabilities have set repayment schedules or, in the case of compensated absences (i.e. sick
and vacation leave), are satisfied through paid time-off or termination payments. There is no repayment
schedule for the net pension liability or the net OPEB liability. As explained above, changes in benefits,
contribution rates, and return on investments affect the balance of these liabilities, but are outside the control
of the local government. In the event that contributions, investment returns, and other changes are
insufficient to keep up with required payments, State statute does not assign/identify the responsible party
for the unfunded portion. Due to the unique nature of how the net pension liability and the net OPEB
liability are satisfied, these liabilities are separately identified within the long-term liability section of the
statement of net position.
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In accordance with GASB 68 and GASB 75, the City’s statements prepared on an accrual basis of
accounting include an annual pension expense and an annual OPEB expense for their proportionate share
of each plan’s change in net pension liability and net OPEB liability, respectively, not accounted for as
deferred inflows/outflows.

At year end, capital assets represented 82 percent of total assets. Capital assets include land, intangibles,
land improvements, buildings, building improvements, machinery and equipment, furniture and fixtures,
vehicles, infrastructure and construction in progress. Capital assets, net of related debt were $84.2 million
at December 31, 2020, with $56.5 million in governmental activities and $27.7 million in business-type
activities. These capital assets are used to provide services to citizens and are not available for future
spending. Although the City’s investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted
that the resources to repay the debt must be provided from other sources, since capital assets may not be
used to liquidate these liabilities.

A portion of the City’s net position, $3.2 million represents resources that are subject to external restrictions
on how they may be used. The balance of unrestricted net position is a deficit balance of $18.8 million.

Capital assets in the governmental activities showed a decrease from 2019. This can be attributed to
disposals of vehicles, equipment and roads in addition to depreciation exceeding acquisitions. Depreciation
exceeded sewer and waterline improvement projects to account for the decrease in capital assets in the
business-type activities.

Governmental activities saw an increase in cash, due in part, to a Coronavirus Relief grant and an increase
in income tax receipts over the prior year in addition to Bureau of Workers’ Compensation rebates and
refunds. Accrued wages showed a decrease due to fewer days accrued compared to prior year. The
decrease in contracts payable can be attributed to a decrease in outstanding projects at year end as they were
completed in 2020.

Business-type activities saw an increase in cash from 2019 which can be attributed to the timing of grant
proceeds for project expenses. Intergovernmental receivables increased over prior year due to grants
receivable for a completed sewer project which is also attributable to the decrease in contracts payable from
prior year. Capital assets decreased from prior year mainly due depreciation exceeding current year
acquisitions.

The fluctuations in the City’s deferred outflows and deferred inflows related to pension and OPEB along
with the net pension and OPEB liabilities are caused by the City’s share of the OPERS’ and OPF accruals
reported in accordance with GASB 68 and GASB 75, which was previously discussed.

In order to further understand what makes up the changes in net position for the current year, the following
table gives readers further details regarding the results of activities for 2020 and 2019.
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Table 2
Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities
2020 2019 Change 2020 2019 Change
Revenues
Program Revenues:
Charges for Services $ 4,012,343 $ 5,385,756  $(1,373,413) $ 3,453,055 $ 3,509,508 $  (56,453)
Operating Grants 2,509,342 1,154,445 1,354,897 41,020 144,225 (103,205)
Capital Grants 1,291,115 1,097,123 193,992 399,048 1,212,397 (813,349)
General Revenues:
Property Taxes 4,292,164 4,161,703 130,461 484,084 467,176 16,908
Income Taxes 15,485,414 13,810,887 1,674,527 - - -
Other Taxes 277,843 259,625 18,218 - - -
Grants and Entitlements 1,012,000 984,079 27,921 - - -
Investment Earnings 176,621 502,171 (325,550) - - -
Miscellaneous 1,155,402 702,151 453,251 43,412 - 43,412
Total Revenues 30,212,244 28,057,940 2,154,304 4,420,619 5,333,306 (912,687)
Program Expenses
Governmental Activities:
General Government 10,965,105 11,044,960 (79,855) - - -
Security of Persons and Property 9,342,118 279,373 9,062,745 - - -
Public Health 387,208 98,426 288,782 - - -
Leisure Time Services 4,034,089 4,896,558 (862,469) - - -
Community Development 396,234 525,712 (129,478) - - -
Public Works 1,484,294 1,290,056 194,238 - - -
Transportation 4,802,649 4,361,420 441,229 - - -
Interest and Fiscal Charges 597,622 779,809 (182,187) - - -
Enterprise Operations:
Water Revenue - - - 3,293,656 4,380,281 (1,086,625)
Sewer Revenue - - - 1,411,702 1,298,255 113,447
Total Program Expenses 32,009,319 23,276,314 8,733,005 4,705,358 5,678,536 (973,178)
Increase (Decrease) in Net Position (1,797,075) 4,781,626 (6,578,701) (284,739) (345,230) 60,491
Transfers (520,000) (91,000) (429,000) 520,000 91,000 429,000
Change in Net Position (2,317,075) 4,690,626 (7,007,701) 235,261 (254,230) 489,491
Net Position Beginning of Year 45,233,151 41,167,354 4,065,797 25,509,381 25,763,611 (254,230)
Restatement - See Note 2 - (624,829) N/A - - N/A
Net Position End of Year $42,916,076 $45,233,151 $ (2,317,075)  $25,744,642 $25,509,381 $ 235,261

The City’s overall net position decreased $2.1 million from the prior year. The reasons for this overall
decrease are discussed in the following sections for governmental activities and business-type activities.

Governmental Activities
The funding for the governmental activities comes from several different sources, the most significant being

the municipal income tax. Other prominent sources are property taxes, grants and entitlements, and charges
for services.
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The City’s income tax is at a rate of 2.0 percent. Both residents of the City and non-residents who work
inside the City are subject to the income tax. However if residents work in a locality that has a municipal
income tax, the City provides 100 percent credit up to 1.5 percent of the amount paid to another City.

Governmental revenue is comprised of program revenue and general revenue. General revenues include
grants and entitlements, such as local government funds. Governmental activities are primarily funded with
the combination of property tax, income tax and intergovernmental revenues. The City monitors its sources
of revenues very closely for fluctuations.

Charges for services showed a decrease from prior year, mainly due to a decrease in activities during
pandemic, while Coronavirus Relief monies account for most of the increase in operating grants. A
decrease in investment earnings reflects market performance and the increase in miscellaneous revenue can
be attributed to substantial refunds from the Bureau of Workers’ Compensation.

This significant increase in security of persons and property for police and fire is the result of OP&F
changing its retiree health care model to a stipend-based health care model in 2019 which decreased the
expense in the prior year.

The changes in pension and OPEB for OPERS increased nearly all other expenses. Transportation expenses
decreased mainly due to expenses incurred in the prior year for large maintenance and repair projects.

The largest program functions of the City are general government, which departments consist of council,
mayor, finance, law, civil service, municipal buildings and fleet, development and administration and
security of persons and property, which includes police and fire departments.

Business-Type Activities

Business-type activities include water and sewer operations. The revenues are generated primarily from
charges for services. In 2020, charges for services accounted for 79 percent of the business-type revenues,
excluding transfers.

Capital grants in both water and sewer operations showed a decrease from prior year, mainly due to OPWC
grants received in 2019 for projects that have been completed. This decrease contributed to the decrease
in net position in the water fund. The increase in net position in the sewer fund can be partially attributed
to an increase in transfers in from the prior year

The City’s Funds
Governmental Funds

As noted earlier, the City’s governmental funds are accounted for using the modified accrual method of
accounting. The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows,
outflows and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing
requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net
resources available for discretionary use as they represent the portion of the fund balance which has not yet
been limited to use for a particular purpose by either an external party, the City itself, or a group or
individual that has been delegated authority to assign resources for use for particular purposes by the City’s
Council.

11
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The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City. The fund balance of the general fund increased by
$0.8 million during the current year. Increases in salaries in the community contributed to the increase in
income tax revenues in addition to an increase in other revenue, which can be attributed to the rebates from
the Bureau of Workers” Compensation previously discussed.

The general bond retirement fund had a $0.2 million increase in fund balance due to the timing of revenues
to cover principal and interest payments.

The fund balance of the general capital improvement fund increased by $0.8 million mainly due to timing
of grant proceeds coupled with transfers, compared to capital outlay expenditures and debt service
payments.

Proprietary Funds

The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide financial
statements for the business-type activities, but in more detail.

Unrestricted net position of the water revenue fund at the end of the year was a deficit balance of $2.2
million and the sewer revenue fund was $0.2 million. Total change in net position for these funds was a
decrease of $0.1 million and an increase of $0.3 million, respectively. Other factors concerning the finances
of these funds have already been addressed in the discussion of the business-type activities.

General Fund Budgeting Highlights

The City’s budget is prepared according to Ohio law and is based on accounting for certain transactions on
a basis of cash receipts, disbursements, and encumbrances. The most significant budgeted fund is the
general fund.

During the course of 2020, the City amended its general fund budget on various occasions. All
recommendations for appropriation changes come to Council from the City Finance Director. The Finance
Committee of Council reviews them, and they make their recommendation to the Council as a whole.

Original Budget Compared to Final Budget Other than conservative budgeting for original income tax
revenues, there were no other significant amendments to increase or decrease either original estimated

revenues or original budgeted appropriations.

Final Budget Compared to Actual Results There were no significant differences between final budgeted
revenues and actual. Final budgeted appropriations were higher than actual expenditures, mainly in security
of persons and property with a shift of salaries paid out of the coronavirus relief fund.

There were no significant variances to discuss within other financing sources and uses.
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Capital Assets and Debt Administration

Capital Assets

Table 3 shows fiscal year 2020 balances compared with 2019.

Land

Intangible

Construction in Progress
Land Improvements
Buildings

Building Improvements
Machinery and Equipment
Furniture and Fixtures
Vehicles

Infrastructure

Total

Table 3
Capital Assets at December 31
(Net of Depreciation)

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
Restated

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
$11,561,111 $ 11,561,111 $ 93,181 $ 93,181 $ 11,654,292 $ 11,654,292
2,183,636 2,183,636 1,154,237 1,154,237 3,337,873 3,337,873
- 3,107,220 472,794 1,605,564 472,794 4,712,784
7,505,468 7,844,137 26,443 31,524 7,531,911 7,875,661
3,937,708 4,277,192 1,932,863 2,052,975 5,870,571 6,330,167
22,673,326 21,532,540 1,278,519 1,380,349 23,951,845 22,912,889
1,188,870 1,513,716 1,736,044 1,887,239 2,924,914 3,400,955
303,303 410,984 1,800 3,000 305,103 413,984
2,042,035 2,134,962 22,515 34,203 2,064,550 2,169,165
32,804,938 34,018,649 31,514,853 30,872,097 64,319,791 64,890,746
$84,200,395 § 88,584,147  $38,233,249  $39,114,369 § 122,433,644 $ 127,698,516

See Note 8 for additional information about the capital assets of the City.

Debt

Table 4 summarizes outstanding debt. See Note 12 for additional details.

General Obligation Bonds
OPWC Loans

OWDA Loans

Loans Payable
Lease-Purchases

Bond Anticipation Notes
Police and Fire Pension

Total

Table 4
Outstanding Debt, at December 31

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
$11,270,000  $12,130,000 $ 100,000 $ 105,000 $11,370,000  $ 12,235,000
2,911,401 2,462,046 2,153,663 1,791,547 5,065,064 4,253,593
- - 9,219,521 9,864,593 9,219,521 9,864,593
120,000 160,000 203,735 213,437 323,735 373,437
429,836 350,695 18,390 25,641 448,226 376,336
7,760,000 8,035,000 - - 7,760,000 8,035,000
158,522 166,326 - - 158,522 166,326
$22,649,759  $23,304,067 §$11,695,309 §$12,000,218  $ 34,345,069  §35,304,286
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Economic Factors

The City of Berea is financially stable. The City analyzed it operations to control expenditures and maintain
stability in its fund balances. With the help of our Economic Development and Engineering Departments,
the City has been able to ensure our financial stability. The City has been successful in obtaining significant
grant funding and state funded loan program awards in an amount over $1.4 million for large capital projects
and capital purchases. The City will continue its plan to be fiscally responsible and to review all
departmental budgets for improvements in efficiency and effectiveness and to look for ways to reduce
operational costs.

The City of Berea owns the Cleveland Browns Headquarters and Training Facility and has a long-term
lease with the Cleveland Browns through 2040; however, the lease included an opt-out clause beginning in
2020. The City and the Cleveland Browns entered into an agreement in 2015 that extended the lease
through the 2028 season before any opt-out clause. In 2016, the Cleveland Browns invested over $15.0
million in improvements to the facility and the City agreed to borrow $7.0 million towards the costs of
these improvements. In addition, the City has agreed to provide an income tax rebate to the Cleveland
Browns of 40 percent of their annual growth on income tax above a $2.6 million base for the years 2015
through 2028. In 2019, the City and the Cleveland Browns entered into an additional agreement that
extended the lease through the 2038 NFL League Year before any opt-out clause. The City continued to
agree to provide an income tax rebate to the Cleveland Browns of 50 percent of their annual growth on
income tax above a $2.6 million base for the years 2020 through 2038. The income tax base amount shall
increase by one-half of one percent (0.5%) each year. The rebated income tax funds can only be used
towards capital improvements to the facility and cannot be used toward the general operations of the
Browns. The Browns have also agreed to various charitable commitments to the community including
making the training facility’s field house available for City use in connection with various nonprofit or
public, community sports activities for 15 days a year, donation of certain office and athletic training
equipment for its use, two football-related events that will be open to the public, production of three videos
that promote the City of Berea, and various other public appearances. The Cleveland Browns agreed to pay
the property taxes on the building. The City of Berea and the Cleveland Browns remain committed to the
partnership and working together for the betterment of the community.

Economic development agreements entered into in previous years are proving successful in allowing us to
maintain a stable income tax base. The City’s income tax revenue base is supported by employment in
professional sports, education (public and private) and light manufacturing. In 2019, the City entered into
a Community Reinvestment Agreement with Voss Industries, LLC. Voss Industries will bring 267 new
employees with an annual payroll of approximately $15 million. In 2020, the City amended the Community
Reinvestment Agreement with Voss Industries, LLC., to include an additional 80 new employees with an
additional annual payroll of approximately $2.8 million. The additional cash balances from economic
development agreements allow us to take advantage of any other development opportunities that may arise.

The City of Berea is reducing our debt burden. We plan our finances so that we can pay cash for many of
the facility improvements and acquisitions, and continue to pay cash for all equipment and other major
purchases necessary to maintain our level of services.

For many years the City has reduced its health care costs by operating a self-funded insurance program and

aggressively shopping our benefits. The City continues to address the issue of rising health care and develop
strategies to minimize increases.
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The City received $1.4 million from the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act)
from the United States Department of Treasury to help offset the expected reduction in revenue and cost
associated with the City’s response to the COVID-19 virus. The City did not experience any significant
loss of revenue during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The City of Berea has committed itself to financial excellence. The City has received the Government
Finance Officers Award (GFOA) Certificate of Achievement for Excellence for the last sixteen years.

Contacting the City’s Finance Department

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, investors, and creditors with a general
overview of the City’s finances and to show the City’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have
any questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact Director of Finance, Andrea
D. Morris, City of Berea, 11 Berea Commons, Berea, Ohio 44017, e-mail amorris@cityofberea.org or
telephone 440-826-5889. We also offer information regarding our City on our web site,
www.cityofberea.org.
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City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2020

Assets

Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments
Accounts Receivable
Intergovernmental Receivable
Taxes Receivable

Special Assessments Receivable
Loans Receivable

Prepaid Items

Materials and Supplies Inventory
Assets Held for Resale
Non-Depreciable Capital Assets
Depreciable Capital Assets, Net

Total Assets

Deferred Outflow of Resources
Pension
OPEB

Total Deferred Outflow of Resources

Liabilities

Accounts Payable
Accrued Wages

Contracts Payable
Intergovernmental Payable
Accrued Interest Payable
Claims Payable

Matured Compensated Absences Payable

Notes Payable
Long-Term Liabilities:
Due Within One Year
Due In More Than One Year:
Net Pension Liability
Net OPEB Liability

Other Amounts Due in More Than One Year

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Property Taxes Levied for the Next Year

Pension
OPEB

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for:
Street Lighting
Street Maintenance and Repair
Court Operations and Capital Outlay
Security Operations
Drug and Alcohol Programs
Other Purposes
Unrestricted

Total Net Position

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total
$ 9,684,578 $ 788,046 $ 10,472,624
145,857 1,569,291 1,715,148
1,518,246 422,760 1,941,006
8,920,892 505,460 9,426,352
698,901 - 698,901
1,024,584 - 1,024,584
189,214 - 189,214
225,958 62,105 288,063
615,000 - 615,000
13,744,747 1,720,212 15,464,959
70,455,648 36,513,037 106,968,685
107,223,625 41,580,911 148,804,536
3,612,773 277,494 3,890,267
2,247,551 201,951 2,449,502
5,860,324 479,445 6,339,769
328,434 111,171 439,605
214,980 17,775 232,755
147,270 21,132 168,402
191,461 15,120 206,581
156,796 152,308 309,104
180,171 - 180,171
11,573 - 11,573
5,875,000 - 5,875,000
9,220,439 837,850 10,058,289
21,895,278 1,834,439 23,729,717
7,283,183 1,224,306 8,507,489
14,931,627 10,931,720 25,863,347
60,436,212 15,145,821 75,582,033
4,130,238 463,628 4,593,866
3,589,099 479,662 4,068,761
2,012,324 226,603 2,238,927
9,731,661 1,169,893 10,901,554
56,541,673 27,706,748 84,248,421
763,009 - 763,009
806,923 - 806,923
571,906 - 571,906
31,227 - 31,227
564,879 - 564,879
473,875 - 473,875
(16,837,416) (1,962,106) (18,799,522)
$ 42,916,076 $ 25,744,642 $ 68,660,718

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Governmental Activities
General Government

Security of Persons and Property
Public Health

Leisure Time Services
Community Development
Public Works

Transportation

Interest and Fiscal Charges

Total Governmental Activities
Business-Type Activities
Water Revenue

Sewer Revenue

Total Business-Type Activities

Total Primary Government

Program Revenues

Operating Grants,

Capital Grants,

Charges for Contributions and Contributions

Expenses Services and Sales Interest and Interest
$ 10,965,105 $ 2,231,148 $ 68,745 $ -
9,342,118 1,175,545 895,336 120,966
387,208 - 419,924 -
4,034,089 313,118 176,603 713,052
396,234 37,251 - -
1,484,294 - - -
4,802,649 255,281 948,734 457,097
597,622 - - -
32,009,319 4,012,343 2,509,342 1,291,115
3,293,656 2,700,808 6,001 -
1,411,702 752,247 35,019 399,048
4,705,358 3,453,055 41,020 399,048
$ 36,714,677 $ 7,465,398 $ 2,550,362 $§ 1,690,163

General Revenues:
Property Taxes Levied for:
General Purposes
Police and Fire Pension
Community Hospital
Debt Service
Water Improvements
Income Taxes Levied for:
General Purposes
Other Taxes
Grants and Entitlements not Restricted
to Specific Programs
Investment Earnings
Miscellaneous

Total General Revenues

Transfers

Total General Revenues and Transfers
Change in Net Position

Net Position Beginning of Year
Restated, See Note 2

Net Position End of Year

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Net (Expense) Revenue and

Changes in Net Position

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total
$  (8,665212) $ - $  (8,665,212)
(7,150,271) - (7,150,271)
32,716 - 32,716
(2,831,316) - (2,831,316)
(358,983) - (358,983)
(1,484,294) - (1,484,294)
(3,141,537) - (3,141,537)
(597,622) - (597,622)
(24,196,519) - (24,196,519)
- (586,847) (586,847)
- (225,388) (225,388)
- (812,235) (812,235)
$ (24,196,519) $ (812,235) $ (25,008,754)
1,820,231 - 1,820,231
745,614 - 745,614
93,933 - 93,933
1,632,386 - 1,632,386
- 484,084 484,084
15,485,414 - 15,485,414
277,843 - 277,843
1,012,000 - 1,012,000
176,621 - 176,621
1,155,402 43,412 1,198,814
22,399,444 527,496 22,926,940
(520,000) 520,000 -
21,879,444 1,047,496 22,926,940
(2,317,075) 235,261 (2,081,814)
45,233,151 25,509,381 70,742,532
$ 42,916,076 $ 25,744,642 $ 68,660,718

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.



City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
December 31, 2020

Assets

Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments
Accounts Receivable
Intergovernmental Receivable

Taxes Receivable

Special Assessments Receivable

Loans Receivable

Materials and Supplies Inventory
Assets Held for Resale

Due from Other Funds

Total Assets

Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Accrued Wages

Contracts Payable

Intergovernmental Payable

Due to Other Funds

Matured Compensated Absences Payable
Notes Payable

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property Taxes Levied for the Next Year
Delinquent Property Taxes

Income Taxes

Unavailable Revenue

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Fund Balances
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total Fund Balances

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources

and Fund Balances

General Nonmajor Total
General Bond Capital Governmental ~ Governmental

General Retirement Improvement Funds Funds
$ 4,188,976 $ 1815280 § 574,578 $ 2,792,143 $ 9,370,977
93,430 - - 51,487 144,917
388,615 107,535 328,008 694,088 1,518,246
6,321,003 1,723,932 - 875,957 8,920,892
49,866 - - 649,035 698,901
- - 1,024,584 - 1,024,584
9,663 - - 216,295 225,958
- - 615,000 - 615,000
- - 150,000 - 150,000
$ 11,051,553 $ 3,646,747 § 2,692,170 $ 5,279,005 $ 22,669,475
$ 210,889 $ - 8 19,596 $ 97,863 $ 328,348
194,438 - - 20,542 214,980
- - 147,270 - 147,270
82,239 - - 109,222 191,461
- - - 150,000 150,000
11,573 - - - 11,573
- 5,875,000 - - 5,875,000
499,139 5,875,000 166,866 377,627 6,918,632
1,745,517 1,581,258 - 803,463 4,130,238
157,495 142,674 - 72,494 372,663
1,432,680 - - - 1,432,680
372,922 107,535 56,909 1,157,689 1,695,055
3,708,614 1,831,467 56,909 2,033,646 7,630,636
53,476 - - 216,295 269,771
- - - 2,118,888 2,118,888
1,525,231 - 2,468,395 682,549 4,676,175
52,690 - - - 52,690
5,212,403 (4,059,720) - (150,000) 1,002,683
6,843,800 (4,059,720) 2,468,395 2,867,732 8,120,207
$ 11,051,553 $ 3,646,747 § 2,692,170 $ 5,279,005 $ 22,669,475

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio

Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balances to
Net Position of Governmental Activities

December 31, 2020

Total Governmental Fund Balances

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-
period expenditures and therefore are deferred in the funds:
Delinquent Property Taxes
Income Taxes
Intergovernmental
Special Assessments

An internal service fund is used by management to charge the costs
of insurance to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of
the internal service fund are included in governmental activities
in the statement of net position.

Accrued interest payable is not due and payable in the current period
and therefore not reported in the funds.

372,663
1,432,680
996,154
698,901

The net pension and OPEB liabilities are not due and payable in the current period,;

therefore, the liabilities and related deferred inflows/outflows
are not reported in governmental funds.

Deferred Outflows - Pension

Deferred Outflows - OPEB

Net Pension Liability

Net OPEB Liability

Deferred Inflows - Pension

Deferred Inflows - OPEB

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period
and therefore are not reported in the funds:
General Obligation Bonds
OPWC Loans
Bond Anticipation Notes
Bond Premium
Loan Payable
Police and Fire Pension
Lease Purchases
Compensated Absences

3,612,773
2,247,551
(21,895,278)
(7,283,183)
(3,589,099)

(2,012,324)

(11,270,000)
(2,911,401)
(7,760,000)

(295,422)
(120,000)
(158,522)
(429,836)
(1,206,885)

$

8,120,207

84,200,395

3,500,398

323,498

(156,796)

(28,919,560)

(24,152,066)

Net Position of Governmental Activities

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Revenues

Property Taxes
Income Taxes

Other Local Taxes
Special Assessments
Charges for Services
Licenses and Permits
Fines and Forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Interest

Rent

Contributions and Donations
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures

Current:
General Government
Security of Persons and Property
Public Health
Leisure Time Services
Community Development
Public Works
Transportation

Capital Outlay

Debt Service:
Principal Retirement
Interest and Fiscal Charges

Total Expenditures
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Issuance of Lease-Purchase

Proceeds from Sale of Assets

Issuance of Refunding Bonds

Issuance of OPWC Loans

Premium on Debt Issuances

Payment to Refunding Bond Escrow Agent
Issuance of Notes

Transfers In

Transfers Out

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance Beginning of Year

Fund Balance End of Year

General Nonmajor Total
General Bond Capital Governmental ~ Governmental
General Retirement Improvement Funds Funds
$ 1,773,585 $ 1,590,299 $ - $ 818,069 $ 4,181,953
14,922,547 - - - 14,922,547
276,697 - - - 276,697
12,226 - - 706,536 718,762
204,604 - 17,741 618,885 841,230
217,462 - 135,000 35,391 387,853
1,205,235 - - 736,779 1,942,014
754,429 215,033 373,035 2,638,270 3,980,767
172,621 4,000 - 5,434 182,055
- - 102,540 - 102,540
- - 10,000 30,751 40,751
824,070 - 24,554 306,778 1,155,402
20,363,476 1,809,332 662,870 5,896,893 28,732,571
7,433,781 137,224 - 1,069,099 8,640,104
5,283,139 - - 2,399,100 7,682,239
- - - 387,208 387,208
704,450 - - 1,471,722 2,176,172
310,215 - - - 310,215
1,468,633 - - - 1,468,633
- - - 913,231 913,231
- - 1,230,665 1,371,728 2,602,393
5,843 8,975,000 260,254 28,539 9,269,636
142 775,989 10,068 8,673 794,872
15,206,203 9,888,213 1,500,987 7,649,300 34,244,703
5,157,273 (8,078,881) (838,117) (1,752,407) (5,512,132)
- - - 255,446 255,446
907 - 975 - 1,882
- 1,860,000 - - 1,860,000
- - 519,882 - 519,882
- 106,551 - - 106,551
- (1,819,639) - - (1,819,639)
- 7,760,000 - - 7,760,000
- 375,000 1,134,000 2,330,000 3,839,000
(4,354,000) (5,000) - - (4,359,000)
(4,353,093) 8,276,912 1,654,857 2,585,446 8,164,122
804,180 198,031 816,740 833,039 2,651,990
6,039,620 (4,257,751) 1,651,655 2,034,693 5,468,217
$ 6,843,800 $ (4,059,720) $ 2,468,395 $ 2,867,732 $ 8,120,207

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives as depreciation expense.
Capital Asset Additions $ 2,280,019

Current Year Depreciation (6,541,264)

Governmental funds only report the disposal of capital assets to the extent
proceeds are received from the sale. In the statement of activities,
a gain or loss is reported for each disposal.

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenues in the funds.

Delinquent Property Taxes 110,210
Income Tax 562,867
Intergovernmental 81,476
Special Assessments 37,067

Repayment of principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the
repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.

General Obligation Bonds 940,000
Loan Payable 40,000
OPWC Loans 70,527
Bond Anticipation Notes 8,035,000
Lease Purchase 176,305
Police and Fire Pension 7,804

Issuance of refunding bonds results in expenditures and other financing sources
and uses in the governmental funds, but these transactions are reflected
in the statement of net position as long-term assets and liabilities.

Payment to Refund Bond Escrow Agent 1,819,639
Proceeds of Refunding Bonds (1,860,000)
Loss on Refunding (6,992)

Debt proceeds issued in the governmental funds that increase long-term
liabilities in the statement of net position are not reported as revenues.

OPWC Loans (519,882)
Bond Anticipation Notes (7,760,000)
Lease Purchase (255,446)

In the statement of activities, interest is accrued on outstanding bonds, and bond
premiums are amortized over the term of the bonds, whereas in governmental
funds, an interest expenditure is reported when bonds are issued.
Accrued Interest Payable 75,960

Amortization of Premium on Bonds 21,732

Contractually required pension/OPEB contributions are reported as expenditures in governmental
funds; however, the statement of net position reports these amounts as deferred outflows.
Pension 1,767,896

OPEB 25,260

Except for amount reported as deferred inflows/outflows, changes in the net pension/OPEB
liability are reported as pension/OPEB expense in the statement of activities.
Pension (3,199,940)

OPEB (694,561)

The internal service fund used by management to charge the costs of insurance
to individual funds is not reported in the entity-wide statement of activities.
Governmental expenditures and related internal service fund revenues are
eliminated. The net revenue (expense) of the internal service fund is
allocated among the governmental activities.

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities, do not require the use
of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as
expenditures in governmental funds.

Compensated Absences

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balance - Budget (Non-GAAP Basis) and Actual
General Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Budgeted Amounts
Variance with
Original Final Actual Final Budget

Revenues
Property Taxes $ 1,772,298 $ 1,773,585 $ 1,773,585 $ -
Income Taxes 13,956,630 14,956,630 15,230,264 273,634
Other Local Taxes 295,000 295,000 279,568 (15,432)
Special Assessments 15,050 15,050 12,226 (2,824)
Charges for Services 432,350 232,350 204,571 (27,779)
Licenses and Permits 420,000 275,000 217,462 (57,538)
Fines and Forfeitures 64,900 38,900 23,784 (15,116)
Intergovernmental 715,055 764,516 739,702 (24,814)
Interest 225,000 125,000 110,377 (14,623)
Other 242,700 441,100 712,227 271,127
Total Revenues 18,138,983 18,917,131 19,303,766 386,635
Expenditures
Current:

General Government 5,896,604 6,249,533 6,102,296 147,237

Security of Persons and Property 6,165,964 6,165,964 5,560,882 605,082

Leisure Time Services 756,391 723,674 717,844 5,830

Community Development 363,475 349,227 319,312 29,915

Public Works 1,326,671 1,452,706 1,451,693 1,013
Debt Service:

Principal Retirement 791 791 791 -

Interest and Fiscal Charges 5 5 5 -
Total Expenditures 14,509,901 14,941,900 14,152,823 789,077
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 3,629,082 3,975,231 5,150,943 1,175,712
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Proceeds from Sale of Assets - - 907 907
Advances Out - (245,000) (190,000) (55,000)
Transfers Out (4,008,000) (4,354,000) (4,354,000) -
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (4,008,000) (4,599,000) (4,543,093) (54,093)
Net Change in Fund Balance (378,918) (623,769) 607,850 1,121,619
Fund Balance Beginning of Year 3,364,766 3,364,766 3,364,766 -
Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated 9,069 9,069 9,069 -
Fund Balance End of Year $ 2,994,917 $ 2,750,066 $ 3,981,685 $ 1,121,619

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Cuyahoga County, Ohio

City of Berea

Statement of Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
December 31, 2020

Assets

Current Assets:

Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments
Accounts Receivable
Intergovernmental Receivable

Taxes Receivable

Prepaid Items

Materials and Supplies Inventory

Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets:
Non-Depreciable Capital Assets
Depreciable Capital Assets, Net

Total Non-Current Assets
Total Assets

Deferred Outflow of Resources
Pension
OPEB

Total Deferred Outflow of Resources

Liabilities

Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable

Accrued Wages

Contracts Payable
Intergovernmental Payable
Accrued Interest Payable
Claims Payable

Compensated Absences Payable
Lease Purchase Payable

Loans Payable

OPWC Loans Payable

OWDA Loans Payable

General Obligation Bonds Payable

Total Current Liabilities

Long-Term Liabilities:

Compensated Absences Payable - Net of Current Portion
Lease Purchase Payable - Net of Current Portion

Loans Payable - Net of Current Portion

OPWC Loans Payable - Net of Current Portion

OWDA Loans Payable - Net of Current Portion

General Obligation Bonds Payable - Net of Current Portion
Net Pension Liability

Net OPEB Liability

Total Long-Term Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property Taxes Levied for the Next Year
Pension

OPEB

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources
Net Position

Net Investment in Capital Assets
Unrestricted

Total Net Position

Governmental
Enterprise Funds Activities -

Internal

Water Sewer Service

Revenue Revenue Total Funds
$ 586,940 $ 201,106 $ 788,046 $ 313,601
1,169,858 399,433 1,569,291 940
30,784 391,976 422,760 -
505,460 - 505,460 -
- - - 189,214
62,105 - 62,105 -
2,355,147 992,515 3,347,662 503,755
942,194 778,018 1,720,212 -
15,470,119 21,042,918 36,513,037 -
16,412,313 21,820,936 38,233,249 -
18,767,460 22,813,451 41,580,911 503,755
219,232 58,262 277,494 -
159,718 42,233 201,951 -
378,950 100,495 479,445 -
90,458 20,713 111,171 86
13,514 4,261 17,775 -
- 21,132 21,132 -
12,275 2,845 15,120 -
117,208 35,100 152,308 -
- - - 180,171
6,193 7,939 14,132 -
3,475 - 3,475 -
- 19,404 19,404 -
16,483 105,451 121,934 -
500,147 173,758 673,905 -
5,000 - 5,000 -
764,753 390,603 1,155,356 180,257
22,296 37,833 60,129 -
14,915 - 14,915 -
- 184,331 184,331 -
446,348 1,585,381 2,031,729 -
6,752,839 1,792,777 8,545,616 -
95,000 - 95,000 -
1,448,241 386,198 1,834,439 -
966,557 257,749 1,224,306 -
9,746,196 4,244,269 13,990,465 -
10,510,949 4,634,872 15,145,821 180,257
463,628 - 463,628 -
392,510 87,152 479,662 -
186,420 40,183 226,603 -
1,042,558 127,335 1,169,893 -
9,768,046 17,938,702 27,706,748 -
(2,175,143) 213,037 (1,962,106) 323,498
$ 7,592,903 $ 18,151,739  $ 25,744,642 § 323,498

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Enterprise Funds Governmental
Activities -
Water Sewer Internal Service
Revenue Revenue Totals Funds

Operating Revenues
Charges for Services $ 2,700,808 $ 752,247 $ 3,453,055 $ 3,016,797
Other - 43,412 43,412 404,307
Total Operating Revenues 2,700,808 795,659 3,496,467 3,421,604
Operating Expenses
Personal Services 1,547,064 328,023 1,875,087 -
Contractual Services 91,217 95,145 186,362 1,217,752
Materials and Supplies 677,499 164,688 842,187 -
Claims - - - 2,182,539
Depreciation 686,517 696,520 1,383,037 -
Other 10,879 8,483 19,362 11,169
Total Operating Expenses 3,013,176 1,292,859 4,306,035 3,411,460
Operating Income (Loss) (312,368) (497,200) (809,568) 10,144
Non-Operating Revenues (Expense)
Intergovernmental 6,001 35,019 41,020 -
Property Taxes 484,084 - 484,084 -
Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets (14,944) (35,928) (50,872) -
Interest and Fiscal Charges (265,536) (82,915) (348,451) -
Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expense) 209,605 (83,824) 125,781 -
Income (Loss) Before Capital Contributions

and Transfers (102,763) (581,024) (683,787) 10,144
Capital Contributions - 399,048 399,048 -
Transfers In 45,000 495,295 540,295 -
Transfers Out (20,295) - (20,295) -
Total Capital Contributions and Transfers 24,705 894,343 919,048 -
Change in Net Position (78,058) 313,319 235,261 10,144
Net Position Beginning of Year

Restated, See Note 2 7,670,961 17,838,420 25,509,381 313,354
Net Position End of Year $ 7,592,903 $ 18,151,739 $ 25,744,642 $ 323,498

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash Received from Customers

Cash Payments to Suppliers for Goods and Services
Cash Payments to Employees for Services and Benefits

Cash Payments for Contractual Services
Cash Payments for Claims

Other Cash Receipts

Other Cash Payments

Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities

Intergovernmental Revenue
Property Taxes
Transfers In

Net Cash Provided by (Used for)
Noncapital Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities

Capital Grants

Proceeds of OPWC Loans

Acquisition of Capital Assets

Principal Payments on Debt and Leases
Interest Payments on Debt and Leases
Transfers in for Debt Payments
Transfers Out for Debt Payments

Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Capital and
Related Financing Activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Investments
Cash and Investments Beginning of Year

Cash and Investments End of Year

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash

Provided by (Used for) Operating Activities

Operating Income (Loss)
Adjustments:
Depreciation

(Increase) Decrease in Assets and Deferred Outflows:

Accounts Receivable

Prepaids

Materials and Supplies Inventory
Deferred Outflows - Pension
Deferred Outflows - OPEB

Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities and Deferred Inflows:

Accounts Payable

Accrued Wages

Compensated Absences Payable
Intergovernmental Payable
Deferred Inflows - Pension
Deferred Inflows - OPEB

Net Pension Liability

Net OPEB Liability

Claims Payable

Net Cash Provided by (Used For) Operating Activities

Noncash Capital Financing Activities:

Enterprise Funds Governmental
Activities -
Water Sewer Internal Service
Revenue Revenue Totals Funds

$ 2,709,971 $ 811,505 $ 3,521,476 $ 3,016,797
(456,794) (61,575) (518,369) -
(1,459,359) (285,135) (1,744,494) -
(246,871) (190,318) (437,189) (1,221,571)

- - - (2,170,639)
- - - 421,373

(10,879) (8,483) (19,362) (11,169)
536,068 265,994 802,062 34,791
89,231 35,019 124,250 -
471,680 - 471,680 -
40,000 475,000 515,000 -
600,911 510,019 1,110,930 -
- 59,687 59,687 -
171,051 244,069 415,120 -
(226,506) (638,721) (865,227) -
(499,461) (222,519) (721,980) -
(273,208) (84,017) (357,225) -
5,000 20,295 25,295 -
(20,295) - (20,295) -
(843,419) (621,206) (1,464,625) -
293,560 154,807 448,367 34,791
293,380 46,299 339,679 278,810
$ 586,940 $ 201,106 $ 788,046 $ 313,601
$ (312,368) $  (497,200) $ (809,568) $ 10,144
686,517 696,520 1,383,037 -
9,163 15,846 25,009 16,566

- - - (3,905)

16,705 - 16,705 -
463,936 108,928 572,864 -
(58,595) (19,884) (78,479) -
48,346 7,940 56,286 86
(47,020) (10,227) (57,247) -
(42,364) 2,029 (40,335) -
(10,119) (2,900) (13,019) -
363,832 77,931 441,763 -
183,716 38,184 221,900 -
(735,829) (159,820) (895,649) -
(29,852) 8,647 (21,205) -

- - - 11,900
$ 536,068 $ 265,994  $ 802,062 $ 34,791

The City purchased $333,570 and $21,132 of capital assets on account in 2019 and 2020, respectively.
The sewer fund recorded a non-cash OWDA fee of $1,951 as an increase in loan balance.

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
December 31, 2020

Custodial Funds

Assets

Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments $ 1,278,398
Cash in Segregated Accounts 178,152
Accounts Receivable 2,119,987
Total Assets 3,576,537
Liabilities

Accounts Payable 1,250,879
Due to Other Governments 2,325,658
Total Liabilities 3,576,537

Net Position
Unrestricted $ -

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Additions

Licenses, Permits & Fees for Other Governments
Fines & Forfeitures for Other Governments
Collections for Other Governments

Total Additions

Deductions

Licenses, Permits & Fee Distributions to Other Governments
Fines & Forfeitures Distributions to Other Governments
Distributions to Other Governments

Total Deductions

Change in Net Position
Net Position Beginning of Year

Net Position End of Year

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Custodial
Funds

4,613
1,530,480
5,576,500

7,111,593

4,613
1,530,480
5,576,500

7,111,593
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City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF THE CITY AND THE REPORTING ENTITY

The City of Berea, (the “City”) is a home rule municipal corporation, established under the laws of the
State of Ohio and operates under its own Charter. The current Charter, which provides for a Mayor-
Council form of government, was originally adopted May 3, 1960. Elected officials include seven
Council members, Council president and a Mayor.

The Reporting Entity

The reporting entity is comprised of the primary government, component units, and other organizations
that are included to ensure that the financial statements of the City are not misleading. The City’s primary
government consists of all funds and departments which are not legally separate from the City. For the
City, this includes the departments that provide the following services: police and fire protection,
emergency medical, street maintenance, sanitation, planning and zoning, parks and recreation, water
treatment, and general administrative services.

Component units are legally separate organizations for which the City is financially accountable. The City
is financially accountable for an organization if the City appoints a voting majority of the organization’s
governing board and (1) the City is able to significantly influence the programs or services performed or
provided by the organization; or (2) the City is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the
organization’s resources; the City is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the responsibility to
finance deficits of, or provide financial support to the organization; or the City is obligated for the debt of
the organization. Component units may also include organizations in which the City approves the budget,
the issuance of debt, or the levying of taxes. The City has no component units.

The City participates in several jointly governed organizations, including, the Southwest Council of
Governments, the Southwest General Health Center, the Woodvale Union Cemetery, the Northeast Ohio
Public Energy Council and Regional Income Tax Agency. A jointly governed organization is managed by
representatives from each of the governments that create the organization, but there is no ongoing
financial interest or responsibility on the part of the participating governments. These organizations are
presented in Note 15 to the basic financial statements.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial
reporting principles.

The most significant of the City’s accounting policies are described below.

Basis of Presentation

The City’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a statement of net

position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements, which provide a more detailed level
of financial information.

31



City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Government-wide Financial Statements - The statement of net position and the statement of activities
display information about the City as a whole. These statements include the financial activities of the
primary government, except for fiduciary funds. The activity of the internal service fund is eliminated to
avoid “doubling up” revenues and expenses. Other interfund services provided and used are not
eliminated in the process of consolidation. The statements distinguish between those activities of the City
that are governmental and those that are considered business-type.

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental and business-type
activities of the City at year-end. The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct
expenses and program revenues for each program or function of the City’s governmental activities and for
the business-type activities of the City. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a
service, program or department and therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program
revenues include charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services offered by the program, grants and
contributions,that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program
and interest earned on grants that is required to be used to support a particular program. Revenues which
are not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues of the City, with certain limited
exceptions. The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each
governmental program or business activity is self-financing or draws from the general revenues of the
City.

Fund Financial Statements - During the year, the City segregates transactions related to certain City
functions or activities in separate funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal
compliance. Fund financial statements are designed to present financial information of the City at this
more detailed level. The focus of governmental and proprietary fund financial statements is on major
funds. Each major fund is presented in a separate column. Nonmajor funds are aggregated and presented
in a single column. The internal service fund is presented in a single column on the face of the proprietary
fund statements. Fiduciary funds are reported by type.

Fund Accounting

The City uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year. A fund is defined as a fiscal and
accounting entity with a self- balancing set of accounts. There are three categories of funds:
governmental, proprietary and fiduciary.

Governmental Funds - Governmental funds are those funds through which most governmental functions
are typically financed. Governmental fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses and balances of current
financial resources. Expendable assets are assigned to the various governmental funds according to the
purposes for which they may or must be used. Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which
they will be paid. The difference between governmental fund assets and deferred outflows of resources
and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources is reported as fund balance. The following are the City’s
major governmental funds:

General Fund - The general fund is the general operating fund of the City. It is used to account for
all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. The general fund
also accounts for the activities related to the municipal income tax levy collections passed by
ordinance in November 1992. One-fourth of income tax revenues are collected in the municipal
income tax fund and are designated for water, sewer, recreation, debt and capital expenditures.
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City of Berea
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

These funds cannot be spent for any other reason. The allocation (which may exclude any particular
purpose mentioned in any one year) to the five areas is designated annually during the budgeting
process approved by Council. The general fund balance is available to the City for any purpose
provided it is expended or transferred according to the Charter of the City of Berea and/or the
general laws of Ohio.

General Bond Retirement Fund - The general bond retirement fund is used to account for the
accumulation of resources for, and the payment of general long-term principal, interest, and related
costs, other than those paid by proprietary funds.

General Capital Improvement Fund - The general capital improvement fund is used to account for
financial resources designated for the acquisition or major repair of infrastructure or capital assets.

The other governmental funds of the City 